**NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING AND RULING BELOW**

Following the June 1, 2002 death of Christina S [redacted] the single mother of the then two and one-half year old Respondent infant, Z [redacted] B [redacted] S [redacted], Appellant **Tina Burch**, the deceased's surviving same sex partner since before the birth of said child, filed a Petition with the consent and support of the infant's biological father, one Clifford Kincaid, to be awarded custody of the said infant under the "psychological parent" concept.

The deceased's father, Appellee Paul S [redacted], the Respondent below, had taken physical custody of the said infant, his grandson, by virtue of being appointed his Guardian by the County Commission of Clay County, in vacation, on June 10, 2002. Despite being named as the principal party in opposition during the litigation that ensued, the Appellee S [redacted] never asked to be awarded custody of the subject child, until he advanced an interlocutory Motion at the time of the June 18, 2003 dispositional hearing. See his July 25, 2002 verified Answer and Reply designated of record and included therein.

A temporary hearing was conducted before the Honorable Timothy R. Ruckman, Family Court Judge, on September 4, 2002. The interim result was that both the Appellee S [redacted] and the Appellant and the Petitioner Father below, Burch and Kincaid, respectively, were awarded 25% parenting time, with the

Appellee being granted 75% parenting time and designated the temporary residential parent. Moreover, a Guardian *ad Litem* was appointed who conducted an exhaustive investigation and filed a December 9, 2002 Report and Recommendation.

Two subsequent temporary hearings were held on November 13, 2002 and March 19, 2003. At the former, the Appellant and the Petitioner Father below, Burch and Kincaid, again respectively, were awarded equal parenting time, with the Appellee, which was re-affirmed, upon challenge from the Appellee, at the latter hearing<sup>1</sup>.

The final hearing was held on June 18, 2003 wherein Appellee challenged the standing of the Appellant Burch to seek custody of her life partner's infant son whom she had co-parented since birth. On July 25, 2003 a written custody decision was rendered by the Family Court Judge in favor of the Appellant Burch, finding, upon the basis of uncontroverted expert (psychologist) written findings<sup>2</sup> and testimony, and the comprehensive report of the Guardian *ad Litem*, that Appellant had a strong psychological bond with the child in issue, and

---

<sup>1</sup>Both orders emanating from these proceedings divided the parenting time between the sides at the middle of the month.

<sup>2</sup>See the October 15, 2002 report of Olga E. Gioulis, attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

therefore, the Appellant had standing under the "psychological parent" analysis, to seek and to be awarded primary custody of the infant. Co-Petitioner Kincaid and Appellee S. were accorded lesser parenting time.

Appellee S. filed an appeal to Circuit Court of Clay County on the custody ruling of the Family Court Judge, pursuant to West Virginia Code §51-2A-11, citing the lack of standing ground, *inter alia*. After an October 20, 2003 hearing on the appeal brought by the Appellee, the Circuit Court of Clay County, the Honorable Jack Alsop presiding, issued a December 2, 2003 ruling that, as a matter of law, a same sex partner did not have standing to seek custody of a child on any recognized legal basis, including psychological parent status. Significantly, in arriving at his decision, the Circuit Court did not set aside, vacate or disturb any factual finding made by the Family Court Judge, including the presence of the strongest bond (as among the Parties) between the Appellant Burch and the affected child.

The December 2, 2003 Order of Remand from the trial judge below, aside from reversing the Family Court Judge's award of custody to the Appellant Burch, returned temporary custody of said infant to the Appellee, with minimal visitation for the Appellant Burch, despite her proclaimed lack of standing, and remanded the case to the Family Court Judge for a determination of permanent

custody, as between the Appellee, and the natural father, the Co-Petitioner below, Clifford Kincaid.

Appellant Burch filed a Motion for a Stay before the trial judge, which was heard on December 22, 2003. The circuit judge denied the stay, and by his January 6, 2004 Order on Motion for Stay, the learned jurist deemed his December 2, 2003 Order of Remand to be a final order as to the Appellant Burch.

Thus, Appellant asks this Court for appellate relief from the December 2, 2003 Order of Remand entered by the Circuit Court of Clay County, herein complained of.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE**

The late Christina Dawn S and the Appellant Tina Burch were lesbians. Since November 1, 1998, the couple had engaged in an exclusive and committed domestic and physical relationship in Clay County.

Christina S had had previous lesbian partners, but she had never engaged in any conventional or unconventional marriage. Appellant Burch, on the other hand, had been a party to a heterosexual marriage, from which union a female child, A.B., now ( ) years old, had been born. After a much earlier divorce, the now 37 year old Appellant Burch and her daughter, of whom she had custody, moved to Maysel, West Virginia when Ms. S and Appellant

Burch commenced their November 1998 cohabitation.

Appellant Burch and Ms. S decided that they wanted children in their home. An arrangement was then made in March 1999 whereby, Appellant Burch's sister's boyfriend, Co-Petitioner Clifford Kincaid below, would father a child for the couple through impregnation of S. The plan was successful, and Z. S. was born on .

Appellant Burch and Ms. S went to prenatal doctor visits together, kept calendars on the progress of the pregnancy together and shopped for baby items together. Appellant Burch was present at the birth of the child, and, in general, both Appellant Burch and Ms. S acted as parents for Z., engaging in all caretaking and parenting functions, and providing financial support, exclusive of any significant involvement by the latter's father, Paul S.; the Respondent below and the Appellee before this Court. Also, the Co-Petitioner below Clifford Kincaid, the natural father, had continuing and regular contact with Z. and he provided in-kind support. In fact, from September 2001, Clifford Kincaid either cohabited with Appellant Burch and Ms. S., or he resided within a short distance of their home.

The Appellee Paul S. steadfastly denies to the present day that his late daughter, Christina S., engaged in an alternate life style, although the fact

was accepted generally by the community as a whole.

Following the untimely death of Christina S. in an automobile accident on June 1, 2002, the Appellee Paul S., Christina S.'s father and Z.'s grandfather, rushed to be appointed Guardian of said child by the Clay County Commission on June 10, 2002, in vacation, but *on the very day* of Christina S.'s death, the Appellee, through the agency of his sons-in-laws, one Robert Jones and one Kenneth Morton, brothers-in-law of the deceased and strangers to said child, forcibly took said infant from the Appellant Burch. The sons-in-law then delivered said child to the Appellee with whom said infant, despite his consanguineous relationship as a grandchild, only infrequently visited.

After being permitted diminishing limited access to Z. under the strict supervision of the deceased's family members, Appellant and Petitioner Kincaid filed their Petition<sup>3</sup> asking that Appellant Burch be awarded custody of Z. S., but curiously, Appellee never advanced any affirmative pleading, until the eve of a court determination, requesting an award to him of custody of said infant on a "psychological parent" ground or any other basis. See Appellee's July 25, 2002 Answer and Reply, designated of record and included therein.

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant Burch filed her Petition for custody with the consent and support of the infant's biological father, Clifford Kincaid. See Appellant's July 16, 2002 Petition, designated of record and included therein.

A September 4, 2002 temporary hearing before Family Court Judge Timothy R. Ruckman resulted in a make-shift visitation schedule between the Parties regarding Z on a generally 75-25 basis, with the Appellant being accorded the lesser parenting time. The Appellee was still deemed interim legal custodian.

Because the Co-Petitioner below, Clifford Kincaid, had not been judicially determined to be the biological father of Z, paternity and psychological testing was ordered. A LabCorp report of October 15, 2002, found a 99.99% probability that Petitioner Kincaid was the biological father of said infant based upon genetic markers, and Petitioner Kincaid thereupon was legally adjudged to be the biological father of Z by Order of October 17, 2002.

A report from psychologist Olga Gioulis was submitted on October 15, 2002 finding a bond between the infant and Appellant Burch. On the other hand, the Appellee's psychologist, Jeffrey Harlow, by his October 11, 2002 report failed to note any bond between said infant and the Appellee. See the Gioulis and Harlow reports attached hereto, as Exhibit "A" and Exhibit "B", respectively.

During the temporary hearing referred to hereinabove, the court-appointed as Guardian *ad Litem*, former Family Law Master, Jeffrey L. Hall, who, after conducting what can only be termed an exhaustive investigation, issued his

December 9, 2002 Report and Recommendations, recommending that Appellant Tina Burch, based upon the best interests of the child standard, be awarded legal custody of said infant. The Guardian *ad Litem* also found that a strong bond existed between the Appellant's teenage daughter, A.B., and the infant Z. See the Guardian *ad Litem* report designated of record and included therein.

On June 18, 2003, the Family Court Judge conducted a full evidentiary hearing, the first order of business of which was the argument on the standing issue raised by the Appellee in his pleading as an affirmative defense to Appellant Burch's invocation of the psychological parent concept as a basis for being awarded primary custody of Z. The Family Court Judge concluded that uncontroverted facts from discovery, including that the Appellee had stipulated through his admissions contained in his October 15, 2002 Reply to Requests for Admission, Paragraphs 2. and 16., to the long term possession of Z (prior to Christina S.'s death) and his strong attachment to Appellant Burch, established that a prima facie case of standing had been made out on the part of Appellant Burch as a psychological parent of Z/S, under the holdings of *In Interest of Brandon L.E.*, 183 W.Va. 113, 394 S.E.2d 515, 15 A.L.R.5th 1093 (1990).

Taking the matter under advisement, the Family Court Judge issued

his written decision on July 25, 2003 awarding primary residential parent designation to Appellant Burch, on the basis that the best interests of the child and the equitable rights of the child to an undisturbed environment that promoted his overall stability and general welfare, dictated that he remain with the Appellant Burch, his psychological parent. The Appellee S. [redacted] was reserved shared parenting time on the 1<sup>st</sup>, 3<sup>rd</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> weekends, alternating holidays and 4 weeks summer vacation.

With new counsel who cited lack of Appellant's standing as one of his grounds, the Appellee immediately appealed the July 25, 2003 ruling of the Family Court Judge to the Circuit Court of Clay; however, the Appellee failed to notify the Guardian *ad Litem* of his August 27, 2003 Petition for Appeal. The appeal hearing was conducted on October 20, 2003 before the Honorable Jack Alsop, Judge of the Circuit Court of Clay County. Following extensive argument, the trial judge took the matter within the breast of the court, and then issued his written Order on Remand ruling to the Parties on December 2, 2003.

Essentially, as a matter of law, the trial court below sided with the Appellee that, notwithstanding the strong psychological bond that she (and her daughter, A.B.), had with the infant, Z. [redacted], since his birth and over a 4 year period of discharging parenting and caretaking functions, Appellant Burch had no

standing to bring the original petition for custody. Relying almost exclusively upon the cases cited in 80 A.L.R. 5<sup>th</sup> 1 (2000) from other jurisdictions that treated standing disputes between a separated lesbian partner and a *living* female parent, the learned trial judge held that a surviving same sex partner could not avail herself of psychological parent constructs to seek custody of Z. . . ., as against the Appellee grandfather, a biological relative. Consequently, the Circuit Judge then ordered the temporary custody of Z: . . . back to Appellee S: . . .; pending further ancillary proceedings before the Family Court Judge.

Counsel for Appellant Burch was in New England when the December 2, 2003 Order of Remand was entered, and, once again, within days, the Appellee seized the subject child from Appellant Burch where he had been since July 25, 2003, and before a Appellant Burch could file either a motion for a stay or reconsideration before Judge Alsop. Nevertheless, Appellant Burch did lodge a December 10, 2003 Motion for a Stay pending appeal to this august body which was not heard by the Circuit Court until December 22, 2003, and denied through his January 6, 2004 Order on Motion for a Stay; hence this Appeal.

An epilogue is necessary here. Family Court Judge Ruckman did indeed convene a remand hearing for the purpose of evidentiary development on February 24, 2004, as directed by the circuit court; and after counsel for the

Appellee announced that he had no evidence that he wished to present, the Family Court Judge pronounced Permanent Custody Order, entered on March 2, 2004, that essentially returned possession of Z , if not custody, to the Appellant. Following a second Petition for Appeal brought by the Appellee and heard on April 19, 2004, and based upon what appellant's counsel perceived was an effort to put the Family Court Judge "in his place", rather than what was in the best interests of the affected child, Circuit Court Judge Alsop, again, reversed the Family Court Judge whose factual findings he did not disturb, and, with some caustic remarks revealing pre-formed notions on the issue, directed the subject child to be re-delivered to the Appellee, by Second Order of Remand, entered on May 3, 2004. See both the March 2, 2004 and May 3, 2004 Orders in the designated record and included therein.

As something of a post-script, the current respective ages of the Parties to the affected infant are: Appellant Burch: 37; Appellee S : 66<sup>4</sup>; and the child, Z : who will be

---

<sup>4</sup>Appellee S r also disclosed at the June 18, 2003 hearing before the Family Court Judge that he had "heart problems". Notation of this fact is made because a grandparent's health at times militates against being awarded custody when the grandparent cannot be expected to live until the affected child attains majority, thereby exposing the child to the trauma of changing homes yet again. See 30 A.L.R. 3d 290, §10 (1996).

## ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Can standing to assert psychological parent status in a custody case be denied because of sexual preference?
- II. Is standing to assert a psychological parent position in a custody case limited to persons of blood relation to the child?
- III. Even if psychological rather than by blood, should sibling bonding or sibling reinforcement be considered in awarding custodial allocations?
- IV. Does consideration of sexual preference in determining standing to assert psychological parent status in a custody case offend the equal protection and *substantive* due process provisions of the United States Constitution?

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUES I. and II.

#### A. Standing and Consanguinity:

Appellee below and on appeal raised the issue of standing as an affirmative defense, as if standing may create some procedural or substantive obstacles to a favorable resolution of the Appellant's claim. Such is not the case.

Over a half decade ago, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals recognized that a grandparent may advance a petition for custody of a child that

has been in his or her possession for a protracted period of time, providing certain procedural safeguards are observed. **Overfield v. Collins**, 199 W.Va. 27, 483 S.E.2d 27 (1996).

*The appellant asserts that the family law master did not have jurisdiction to entertain the appellees' petition. However, we recognized the jurisdiction of a court to entertain such a petition in the case of **Overfield v. Collins**, 199 W.Va. 27, 483 S.E.2d 27 (1996). Syllabus Point 1 of **Overfield** states:*

*Any attempt by a non-parent to judicially change the care and custody of a child from a natural parent must precede that attempt with: (1) the filing of a petition setting forth all of the reasons why the change of custody is required; and (2) the service of that petition, together with a reasonable notice as to the time and place that petition will be heard. Following the filing and service of the petition and notice of hearing upon that petition, the natural parents whose rights are being affected shall have the right to: (1) present evidence as to the reasons why custody should not be changed; and (2) obtain a decision from a neutral, detached person or tribunal.*

*The appellees followed the procedure described in **Overfield**.*

**Bowman v. Blevins**, 210 W.Va. 249, 251, 557 S.E.2d 303, 305 (2001).

Since the Appellee herein has stipulated through his admissions contained in his October 15, 2002 Reply to Requests for Admission, Paragraphs 2. and 16., to the long term possession and strong attachment to Appellant Burch, and the unrefuted October 15, 2002 report and evidence of the psychologist, Olga E. Gioulis, that a substantial psychological bond existed the subject infant and the Appellant and the subject child, standing has been satisfied by the **Overfield** and **Blevins** rules.

Recently, the Supreme Court spoke again regarding the deference to

be given to long term placements of children:

... **Overfield**, a court must decide whether the natural parent is fit and then analyze whether returning the children to their natural parent(s) would cause a significance disturbance to the children. In **Overfield**, this Court stated:

*When a natural parent transfers temporary custody of their child to a third person and thereafter seeks to regain custody of that child, the burden of proof shall be upon that parent to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he or she is fit; thereafter the burden of proof shall shift to the third party to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the child's environment should not be disturbed because to do so would constitute a significant detriment to the child notwithstanding the natural parent's assertion of a legal right to the child. Syllabus Point 2, in part, Overfield v. Collins, 199 W.Va. 27, 483 S.E.2d 27 (1996).*

*In re Jade E. G. and James A. G., 212 W.Va. 715,719, 575 S.E.2d 325, 329 (2002).*

Moreover, Appellant does not rely solely upon the prevailing case law. West Virginia Code § 48-9-103 sets who may be a Party to a custody action under article 9:

*(a) Persons who have a right to be notified of and participate as a party in an action filed by another are:*

*(1) A legal parent of the child, as defined in section 1-232 of this chapter;*

*(2) An adult allocated custodial responsibility or decision-making responsibility under a parenting plan regarding the child that is then in effect; or*

*(3) Persons who were parties to a prior order establishing custody and visitation, or who, under a parenting plan, were allocated custodial responsibility or decision-making responsibility.*

*(b) In exceptional cases the court may, in its discretion, grant permission to intervene to other persons or public agencies whose participation in the proceedings under this article it determines is likely to serve the child's best interests. The court may place limitations on participation by the intervening party as the court determines to be appropriate. Such persons or public agencies do not have standing to initiate an action under this article.*

Acts 2001, c. 91, eff. Sept. 1, 2001.

“Legal parent” as utilized in the foregoing statute is: “ ... *an individual defined as a parent, by law, on the basis of biological relationship, presumed biological relationship, legal adoption or other recognized grounds.* West Virginia Code § 48-1-232; Acts 2001, c. 91, eff. Sept. 1, 2001. (Emphasis supplied).

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