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

Based upon these Findings of Fact, the Family Court concluded that Appellant, Tina Burch, was a psychological parent of Z.B.S. The Family Court made no Finding of Fact that the Appellant, Tina Burch, served as Z.B.S.'S psychological parent, "during a period when a natural parent had a right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so." Obviously, this was not the case because the Family Court correctly found that prior to her death on June 1, 2002, Christina S [redacted] was the primary custodian and caretaker of Z.B.S.

Between the temporary hearings in this action, the family court appointed Jeffrey L. Hall as guardian ad litem for Z.B.S. Based upon counsel's best information and belief, the

guardian ad litem at the time of his appointment, was the only West Virginia lawyer who has formally expressed and published his opinion regarding gay parent issues. See Jeffrey L. Hall, "Coming Out in West Virginia: Child Custody and Visitation Disputes Involving Gay or Lesbian Parents, 100 W.Va. L. Rev. 107 (1997). Counsel does not know how or why the family court happened to make this guardian ad litem appointment in a custody case involving a gay litigant, although in retrospect it seems clearly inappropriate.

Appellant's brief discusses and attaches the psychological custody evaluations of Olga E. Gioulis for the Appellant and Jeffrey Harlow for the Appellee. Both of these evaluations took place when Z.B.S. was approximately two years and ten months old. Both psychologists said that Z.B.S.'S speech was difficult to understand or that he would not speak to the psychologist. Although, Z.B.S. did not verbally communicate with either psychologist, Ms. Gioulis found that a bond exists between Z.B.S. and the Appellant. Dr. Harlow did not mention the concept of bonding in his report. However, Dr. Harlow did state regarding the Appellant that "Paul is still completing the grief process in response to the loss of this daughter. He is a gentle and kind person who takes a practical no-nonsense approach to life. Paul is a deeply religious man who is dedicated to his

wife, family, and Z . Further, Dr. Harlow opined that "results of this examination indicate that Paul and Janet S are mentally healthy people, with excellent parenting skills. They use appropriate discipline techniques and appear to truly love their grandson, Zachary S . Certainly, they have substantial parenting experience, having successfully reared five children." Dr. Harlow concluded that "Janet and Paul S have excellent parenting capacity and Z S would benefit greatly by being reared by them."

To bring the court up-to-date after Judge Alsop's order of remand that is the subject of this appeal was entered on December 2, 2003, the Family Court held a remand hearing. At the hearing held on February 24, 2004, the family court reiterated it's prior Findings of Fact including the following:

7. Apparently no relationship existed between Clifford Kincaid and Christina S before conception of Z.B.S. Although he had contact with Z.B.S. since the child's birth he has performed limited care-giving functions and his planned as well as actual involvement with the child has been limited. Clifford Kincaid would not have sought primary custody of Z.B.S. but for the death of Christina S in June, 2002. The bond between Z.B.S. and Clifford Kincaid is not as strong as the bond between Z.B.S. and Tina Burch.

The family court further confirmed, adopted and approved it's Conclusion of Law regarding Clifford Kincaid as follows:

DONALD K. BISCHOFF  
ATTORNEY AT LAW  
517 MAIN STREET  
SUMMERSVILLE, WEST VIRGINIA  
26051

4. Clifford Kincaid as natural parent standing as a legal parent under West Virginia Code §48-9-103 to seek custody of Z.B.S..... because his involvement with the child has been limited, it would not be in the best interest of Z.B.S. for Clifford Kincaid to be designated primary custodian.

After making the above Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law the Family Court awarded Clifford Kincaid the designation as primary caretaker of Z.B.S. The Family Court further imposed the parenting plan and limited visitation upon the Appellee that the Court had originally ordered in it's July 25, 2003, Family Court order. Lastly, in a written conclusion of law, the family court concluded that "the aforesaid Remand Order(the circuit court's order appealed from in this action) operates to unconstitutionally penalize her (the Appellant) by removing her right to seek custody of the subject infant under the "psychological parent" cause of action because of her same-sex relationship with the late Christina S. ...."

Appellee again appealed the Family Court order to the Circuit Court, after hearing the Circuit Court of Clay County again reversed the Family Court, directed that Z.B.S. be re-delivered to the Appellee by Second Order of Remand entered on May 3, 2004.

A time line of where Z.B.S. has resided during his life would hopefully be helpful to the Court. From December 25,

1999, until his mother's death on June 1, 2002, Z.B.S. lived with his mother, Christina S , in a residence owned by Ms. S and also occupied by Appellant, Tina Burch and her daughter. From Ms. S 's death on June 1, 2002, until September 4, 2002, Z.B.S. lived with his grandfather, the Appellee, Paul S

Pursuant to the first Family Court temporary order from September 4, 2002, until November 13, 2002, the Family Court's first shared custody order allocated seven days a month to the Appellant and the remainder of the month to the Appellee. The second Family Court shared custody order from November 11, 2002, until July 25, 2003, allocated custody to the Appellant, Tina Burch, from the 1st day of the month to the 15th day of the month and to the Appellee, Paul S , from the 16th day of the month until the end of the month. Pursuant to the third Family Court shared custody order of June 25, 2003, the Appellant, Tina Burch, was awarded custody of Z.B.S. and the Appellee, Paul S , was awarded visitation on the first, third and fifth weekends of each month, alternate major holidays and four weeks in the summer. By the Clay County Circuit Court order which is appealed in this action from December 2, 2003, until March 2, 2004, the Appellee, Paul S , was awarded custody of Z.B.S. and the Appellant, Tina Burch, was awarded visitation on non-

alternate Saturdays. The Family Court's fourth shared custody order in effect from March 2, 2004, until May 3, 2004, awarded 50/50 custody to the Appellant and the Appellee alternating physical custody each two weeks. The Circuit Court's order in effect from May 3, 2004, until September 2, 2004, awarded Appellee, Paul S , custody of Z.B.S. and the Appellant, Tina Burch, visitation on alternate Saturdays. By order and stay entered by this Court on September 2, 2004, Appellant, Tina Burch, was awarded custody of Z.B.S. and the Appellee, Paul Si , was awarded visitation on the first, third and fifth weekends of each month, alternate holidays, and four weeks in the summer.

Z.B.S.'S parenting plan has been changed seven times from September 4, 2002 until the present.

### III. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. THE APPELLANT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO SEEK CUSTODY OF Z.B.S. PURSUANT TO WEST VIRGINIA CODE §48-9-103.
- B. THE APPELLANT, THE FORMER SAME SEX PARTNER OF THE CHILD'S DECEASED MOTHER, IS NOT A PSYCHOLOGICAL PARENT TO Z.B.S.
- C. THE QUESTION OF WHETHER TO EXTEND THE PSYCHOLOGICAL PARENT CONCEPT TO THE FORMER SAME SEX PARTNER OF THIS CHILD'S DECEASED MOTHER IS BETTER LEFT TO THE LEGISLATURE THAN THE JUDICIARY.

#### IV. DISCUSSION OF LAW

##### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Syl. Pt.1, Chrystal R.M. v.Charlie A.L. 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

##### I. The APPELLANT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO SEEK CUSTODY OF Z.B.S. PURSUANT TO WEST VIRGINIA CODE, §48-9-103.

A threshold issue when a non-parent seeks custody of a child is whether the non-parent has standing to assert the custody claim. In the domestic context, whether the third party has standing to obtain custody depends upon the law of the individual state. Court's tend to strictly construe the statutory predicates for standing and third parties who fail to meet these requirements will be deemed to lack standing.

West Virginia law relating to standing in a custody action is §48-9-103 of the West Virginia Code. This section provides as follows:

- (a) Persons who have a right to be notified of and participate as a party in an action filed by another are:
  - (1) A legal parent of the child, as defined in

- section 1-232 [§ 48-1-232] of this chapter;
- (2) An adult allocated custodial responsibility or decision-making responsibility under a parenting plan regarding the child that is then in effect; or
  - (3) Persons who were parties to a prior order establishing custody and visitation, or who under a parenting plan, were allocated custodial responsibility or decision-making responsibility.
- (b) In exceptional cases the court may, in its discretion, grant permission to intervene to other persons or public agencies whose participation in the proceedings under this article it determines is likely to serve the child's best interests. The court may place limitations on participation by the intervening party as the court determines to be appropriate. Such persons or public agencies do not have standing to initiate an action under this article. (2001, c.91.)

§48-1-232 of the West Virginia Code defines a legal parent as follows:

"Legal parent" means an individual defined as a parent, by law, on the basis of biological relationship, presumed biological relationship, legal adoption or other recognized grounds. (2001 c. 91.)

The Appellant has not been allocated custodial or decision making responsibility under a parenting plan regarding Z.B.S. as set out in sub-section (a)(2). The Appellant was not a party to a prior order establishing custody and visitation or under a parenting plan for Z.B.S. as set out in sub-section (a)(3). Because the Appellant instituted the custody action in this case section (b) does not apply.

Thus, in order to have standing the Appellant must fit

in under §48-9-103 (a) (1) by into the definitions set out in §48-1-232. Analyzing the requirements §48-1-232 as they apply to this action are as follows: The Appellant is not a legal parent based on biological relationship, presumed biological relationship or legal adoption. The only other recognized ground to be a legal parent in this jurisdiction is the concept of "psychological parent."

The Appellant is not psychological parent to Z.B.S. because from Z.B.S.'S birth on , , until the death of his mother, Christina S , on June 1, 2002, Christina S was the primary custodian and caretaker of Z.B.S. Thus, Z.B.S. never resided with an individual other than his mother (i.e. the Appellant) for a significant period of time..."during a period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so."

The Appellant meets none of the requirements set by the West Virginia Legislature in 2001 to acquire standing in this custody action.

In the order appealed from in this case, the Circuit Court Order of Remand entered December 2, 2003, Judge Alsop wrote a thoroughly researched and carefully reasoned decision upon the issue of standing. Judge Alsop cites persuasive

authority from nine different states. Counsel defers to Judge Alsop's analysis on the issue of standing and requests the Court to thoughtfully review Judge Alsop's decision.

II. THE APPELLANT, THE FORMER SAME SEX PARTNER OF THE CHILD'S DECEASED MOTHER, IS NOT A PSYCHOLOGICAL PARENT TO Z.B.S.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals first discussed the psychological parent concept in, In The Interest of Brandon L.E., 183 W.Va. 113 (1990). In Brandon L.E., this Court recognized the right of a maternal grandmother to be awarded custody of her grandson under specific factual circumstances. In Syl. Pt 4 of that decision the Court held as follows:

4. If a child has resided with an individual other than a parent for a significant period of time such that the non-parent with whom the child resides serves as the child's psychological parent, during a period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so, the equitable rights of the child must be considered in connection with any decision that would alter the child's custody. To protect the equitable rights of a child in this situation, the child's environment should not be disturbed without clear showing of significant benefit to him, notwithstanding the parent's assertion of a legal right to the child. (EMPHASIS ADDED)

The Court's decision cited Lemley v. Barr, 176 W.Va. 378 (1986). In Lemley, the court determined that despite an

invalid adoption a determination should be made of what physical custody arrangement was in the best interest of the five year old child who had spent almost his entire life with an adoptive mother. In Brandon L.E., Supra, the Court pointed out that Brandon had lived with or been taken care of by his maternal grandmother for the majority of his young life.

The present case is readily distinguishable from the factual situation in, In Brandon L. E. In this case Z.B.S. lived with his mother, Christina S , from his birth on , until the death of his mother, Christina S , on June 1, 2002. The Appellant, Tina Burch, lived in the same home as Z.B.S. and his mother, Christina S , during this period. However, Z.B.S.'S mother, Christina S , resided with Z.B.S. Christina S both maintained continuing substantial contact with Z.B.S. by residing with him and being his primary custodian. Thus, the psychological parent concept enumerated in Brandon L.E. is not triggered by the facts in the present case.

In State of Florida D.H.R.S. v. Thornton, 183 W.Va. 513 (1990) this court in a per curium decision considered a custody action in which the natural mother was serving a term of life imprisonment and the natural father's whereabouts were unknown. The custody action of the infant child was between the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services and the

Thorntons. Mrs. Thornton was a grand aunt of the infant child.

The per curium opinion remanded this case to Circuit Court for an evidentiary to determine the best interest of the infant child. The per curium opinion quoted Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L. E., but omitted the phrase "during the period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so." The per curium decision quotes Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L.E., Supra, as follows:

If a child has resided with an individual other than a parent for a significant period of time such that the non-parent with whom the child resides serves as the child's psychological parent,... the equitable rights of the child must be considered in connection with any decision that would alter the child's custody. To protect the equitable rights of a child in this situation, the child's environment should not be disturbed without clear showing of significant benefit to him....

Significantly, in Simons v. Comer, 190 W.Va. 350 (1993), Justice Thomas Miller in footnote 16 pointed out the omission from Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L.E. in the per curium opinion, State of Florida D.H.R.S. v. Thornton, Supra. Justice Miller noted that the cited Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L.E. in the Thornton per curium opinion omitted the phrase "during the period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so." Justice Miller pointed out that in Thornton, the natural mother was in

prison and the father's whereabouts were unknown. The court did not attempt to modify Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L. E. in Thornton, but as Justice Miller points out the per curium opinion merely omitted the relevant phrase.

In Ortner v. Pritt, 187 W.Va. 494 (1992) this court issued a per curium opinion in a custody action involving a grandmother and a biological mother. As in Thornton, Supra, the court quoted Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L.E. but omitted the phrase "during the period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so."

Again, significantly, Justice Thomas Miller in his decision in Simons, Supra, at footnote 16, points out that the per curium opinion omitted the phrase from Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L. E., Supra, "during the period when the natural parent had the right to maintain continuing substantial contact with the child and failed to do so." Justice Miller after pointing out the omission of the above phrase stated that in Ortner, Supra, it was clear that the mother had abandoned the child with her mother-in-law and the natural father was not involved. Justice Miller further opined that the original Syl. Pt. 4 of Brandon L. E. would have controlled in Ortner.

Thus, Justice Miller's opinion in Simons, not only

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